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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                            Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	FRANCISCO J. R. FLORESTA, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                    Respondent,

                                                   v. 

BRISTOL BAY HOUSING AUTHORITY,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

ALASKA NATIONAL INSURANCE CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                      Petitioners.
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	          FINAL

          DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  200421466
        AWCB Decision No.  06-0041

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         on February 23, 2006


On January 4, 2006, in Anchorage, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employer’s Petition for Reimbursement of the employee’s benefits under 
AS 23.30.250(b).  The employee was unrepresented and appeared pro se.  Attorney Theresa Hennemann represented the employer and insurer (“employer”).  Solely for the purposes of taking evidence at hearing, the Board consolidated the employee’s workers’ compensation case numbers 200400255 and 200421466.  The employee expressed he was unable to give opening remarks or closing arguments because he did not have the ability to think and talk at the same time.  Based upon the employee’s assertions, the record was held open to give the employee an opportunity to file with the Board his opening remarks and closing arguments in writing.  The Board entered an oral order directing the employee to file his remarks and arguments no later than January 14, 2006, and ordered the employer to file its responses by January 28, 2006.  The Board received the employee’s remarks and arguments on January 13, 2006, and the employer’s responses on January 27, 2006.  The record closed when the Board next met on January 31, 2006.


ISSUE
Should the employee's claim for benefits be barred under AS 23.30.250(b) for knowingly making a false or misleading statement to obtain benefits, and the benefits reimbursed to the employer?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
I. Medical History of December 13, 2004 Injury

The employee completed a Report of Occupational Injury or Illness on December 14, 2004, reporting that while starting a snow blower, the machine backfired and injured his right shoulder on December 13, 2004.
  At the time of the injury, the employee was working as a Maintenance Specialist for the employer.
  There were no witnesses to the accident and the employee initially accepted the employee’s claim based upon the report of injury.

On December 14, 2004, the employee was treated by a community health aide.  The employee reported he was pull starting a snow blower that backfired, wrenching his right arm forward.  The employee reported pain in his right outer shoulder and right upper forearm.  The employee reported a “clunking” noise when rotating his shoulder forward, but did not hear any popping.  CHA/CHP II R. Monsen, assessed the employee with right arm sprain and prescribed acetaminophen 325 mg, Q.I.D.
, as needed, and a sling.
 

The employee was seen by Chuck Luck, PA-C, at the Camai Community Health Center on December 16, 2004, for right shoulder pain.  At this time, the employee reported he was sore mainly in his shoulder, but that the pain radiated down to his thumb which was swollen.  The employee reported he was trying to start a large snow blower with a pull rope, the snow blower backfired and yanked his thumb, wrist, elbow and shoulder.
  Upon examination, Mr. Luck assessed muscle strain in the employee’s shoulder, and muscle strain in the employee’s thumb.  Mr. Luck provided the employee with an Excuse Slip indicating the employee was unable to return to work until December 20, 2004, due to right arm pain.  Restrictions placed upon the employee were no work, lifting or pulling with his right arm.
  The employer initiated payment of temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits on December 16, 2004.

Mr. Luck ordered x-rays of the employee’s shoulder, wrist and thumb, which revealed the following:

Clinical Information:
Strain

RIGHT SHOULDER:
No evidence of fracture, subluxation, AC separation or deformity.  The shoulder girdle is otherwise normal.  There is normal articulation of the glenoid with the humerus.  The rotator cuff area, scapula and adjacent ribs are normal.

IMPRESSION:  Normal shoulder.

RIGHT THUMB & WRIST:  Degenerative pattern at the thumb base and greater multangular.   Findings suggest prior fracture at this focus but there is no evidence of acute abnormality. 

IMPRESSION:  Deformity and sclerosis at the thumb base suggesting prior fracture of the greater multangular but there is no evidence of acute abnormality.

The employee followed up with Mr. Luck on January 6, 2005, and his symptoms had not abated.
  On January 19, 2005, the employee was seen by Leon Koenck, PA-C.  The employee reported his right shoulder had improved, but his thumb continued to be painful and was becoming numb.  
Mr. Koenck diagnosed right thumb, ulnar collateral ligament tear and referred the employee to orthopedic surgery.

An x-ray of the employee’s left thumb was taken for purposes of comparison with the images taken of his right thumb.  The images of the employee’s right thumb demonstrated advanced osteoarthritic changes at the first carpal-metacarpal articulation; articular irregularity, erosion and marginal osteophytes.  The employee’s soft tissues were normal and there were no significant abnormalities at the IP joint.  The radiologist’s impression was that there were advanced chronic degenerative changes at the right first carpal-metacarpal articulation.

On January 20, 2004, Candace L. Clawson, D.O., saw the employee.  He reported that he pulled on the cord to start a snow blower and it pulled back quite sharply catching his right thumb and causing him severe pain.  The employee denied any type of hyperextension force, but stated that his thumb became very painful and swollen after the injury.  The employee reported that neither a sling, splint or Velcro thumb spica splint were helpful to resolve his complaints.  The employee reported that he had no problems with his right thumb or hand prior to the December 13, 2004 injury.  He reported he had numbness on the top of his right thumb that was relatively new.  He reported no cervical complaints. 

Upon examination, Dr. Clawson found mild swelling in the area of the MCP
 joint, and the thenar eminence.  He also had tenderness at the CMC
 joint, but no crepitus.   The primary area of tenderness, she found, was at the ulnar collateral ligament of the employee’s thumb.  X-rays revealed significant degenerative changes in the CMC joint of the employee’s thumb with large spurs.  Dr. Clawson indicated the employee had two problems:  one, a rupture of the ulnar collateral ligament of the thumb; and two, significant degenerative joint disease of his CMC joint.  She indicated it was difficult to determine when the employee’s arthritis began or the extent of its contribution to the employee’s thumb pain.  She stated, “Comparison injuries from his original injury certainly would be helpful with this.”
   Dr. Clawson recommended an ulnar collateral ligament repair.  She indicated if that was not successful in resolving the employee’s symptoms, additional options to treat the employee’s degenerative condition and arthritis would be considered.

Prior to surgery, x-rays were taken, which revealed degenerative change of the CMC joint of the employee’s right thumb, with additional bone density, which the radiologist indicated was smooth, round and old.
  A stress view x-ray showed considerable widening of the joint space of the MCP joint, suggesting ligamentous disruption; no fracture was demonstrated.
  Dr. Clawson surgically repaired the employee’s ulnar collateral ligament on January 20, 2005, and reported as follows:

X-rays found significant degenerative joint disease of the CMC joint of the base of the first metacarpal with large spurs.  The MCP joint was found to be clinically unstable. . . .  His symptomatic area and clinical examination seemed to be primarily MCP joint.  The x-rays were available from the initial injury as I was unable to elicit whether or not the degenerative changes were related to the injury or not. . . . .  If he has persistent complaints with regards to his thumb and they appear to be more localized to the CMC joint, more definitive recovery time is often necessary for any type of CMC arthroplasties or fusions. . .

The employee was to wear a cast for six weeks and avoid stressing the site of the joint for an additional six to eight weeks.  After exercises, if the employee’s complaints persisted with regard to his thumb and were localized to the CMC joint, more definitive reconstructive procedures were to be considered.

The employee complained of discomfort due to the cast on February 3, 2005, at which time the cast was modified.
  Lorren Weaver, M.D., saw the employee again for increased pain complaints due to the cast.  Dr. Weaver noted that the cast was loose and sliding up and down.  Dr. Weaver indicated that because the employee was taking 18 tabs of Methodone per day, 10 mg of Valium two to three times per day, in addition to Percocet, that analgesia was difficult to achieve because of the employee’s narcotic tolerance and dependence.  Dr. Weaver reported the employee wanted a medication stronger than Percocet; Dr. Weaver was reluctant to add to the employee’s current narcotic load.

At the employer’s request, an employer’s medical examination
 (“EME”) was conducted on March 15, 2005, by John W. Swanson, M.D., Orthopedic Surgeon.  Dr. Swanson relayed the employee’s reports to him as follows:

This is as a 51-year-old right-handed man who reported that in December of 2004 he was pulling on a starter cord of a snow machine to move it into a shop to work on it.  He reports that the machine has been leaking transmission fluid from seals and he was going to repair it.  He reports wrapping the starter cord around his fingers.

When he first demonstrated this to me, he stated that the cord was wrapped just around the palm over the index, long, ring, and small fingers.  The thumb was excluded from the way he was grasping during this demonstration.  When I asked him how that possibly could have damaged his thumb, he then demonstrated wrapping the cord around the thumb and the fingers (however this mechanism would have only produced adduction not abduction of the thumb).

The examinee states that when he was trying to start the snow machine it was warm from previous use and as he pulled on the starter it “kicked back.”  What he described was found this event pulled his hand forward with the cord in the hand.  This would have placed forward flexion on the shoulder and longitudinal stress on his hand.

The examinee was very vague in describing the history of injury to me.  He had a very flat affect.  He tended to wander off the subject while answering questions and almost fell asleep during the history and examination.  He appeared to be over medicated.  It was very difficult for him to give me a history of what occurred.  He said that he initially had pain in his shoulder, but that resolved.  Then he had pain in his hand, but is unclear as to when the hand pain started.

The employee was unable to provide Dr. Swanson with a number on a 0 to 10 scale for his pain, despite Dr. Swanson's numerous requests.  The employee reported he had tingling and numbing sensations in his thumb.  The employee reported pain all over his arm; however, he could not clarify where on his arm the pain was.  Additionally, the employee reported a tight sensation in his arm.  The employee was unable to further specify what caused his symptoms.  Dr. Swanson reported that several times during the history and examination, the employee would stop, lean over at the waist, grimace, groan, and try to sob, but the employee never had any tears.  Dr. Swanson indicated that after a few seconds this would pass and the employee would go back to telling his story.
  

Dr. Swanson had an opportunity to review the employee’s past medical history, x-rays, and photographs and a surveillance videotape taken of the employee on March 15, 2005, after the employee completed his evaluation with Dr. Swanson.

Dr. Swanson reported that review of the videotape demonstrated the employee holding a coffee cup in his right hand.  The employee was wearing a sling and brace, while at the same time moving his hand and arm freely and gripping the coffee cup between his fingers and his thumb.  The employee was observed lifting his suitcase and carrying it with his right hand.  The employee was smiling, laughing and gregarious throughout the video.  He demonstrated the use of both hands equally while doing various activities in a store, including loading ad changing things in his suitcase.  Dr. Swanson indicated, based upon review of the videotape, that the employee had excellent range of motion as he used his right arm and hand to brush his hair out of his eyes.  Dr. Swanson noted the employee produced excellent abduction.  Additionally, Dr. Swanson observed the employee using his thumb and hand to tear open a letter with his right hand.  Dr. Swanson observed that although the employee had a sling on, he wore it up around his elbow and did not utilize it; the employee would swing his arm and move it in a variety of different directions.  Dr. Swanson further observed that the employee wore a thumb spica splint, but used his hand for various gripping activities without any visual evidence of discomfort.

Dr. Swanson’s impression was as follows:

1. Pre-existing carpometacarpal joint arthritis of the right thumb.

2. Pre-existing osteoarthritis of the MCP joints and IP
 joint of the right thumb.

3. Right shoulder strain of 12/13/04, resolved.

4. Sprain of the right thumb MCP joint on 12/13/04.

5. Pre-existing laxity in extension of the MCP of the right thumb.

6. Chronic low back pain due to spondylosis.

7. Psychological and physical addiction to pain medications.

8. Symptom magnification with probable secondary gain.

9. Surveillance videotapes suggesting malingering.

10. Pre-existing history of drug seeking behavior.

Dr. Swanson indicated the employee has a pre-existing, long-standing, severe osteoarthritis of the carpometacarpal joint of his right thumb, which involves loss of all the articular cartilage space height, multiple large spurs, and subluxation of the carpometacarpal joint.  Dr. Swanson noted that this is demonstrated on x-rays taken on December 16, 2004, within three days of the reported date of the unwitnessed incident, and could not have been caused by the incident.  Dr. Swanson indicated that bone spurs and degeneration of the employee’s severity require years to develop.  Additionally, Dr. Swanson noted that the employee had arthritic findings, although not nearly as severe, in his opposite left carpometacarpal joint area of the thumb.  Dr. Swanson indicated the employee has pre-existing osteoarthritis of the MCP joint and the IP joint of his right thumb as well.  Dr. Swanson opined that the loss of cartilage space height and spurs at the IP joint and MCP joint of the employee's right thumb, shown on the December 16 2004 x-rays, predated the injury date of December 13, 2004 and were not caused by it.  Dr. Swanson found no indication that there were any fractures or acute pathological worsening of the employee's pre-existing arthritis in the thumb based upon the reported injury of December 13, 2004.

Dr. Swanson noted that, by history, the employee suffered a right shoulder strain on December 13, 2004, for which the employee had some initial discomfort in the shoulder, but no specific complaints related to the shoulder on the date of the EME.  Dr. Swanson indicated that the employee's physical examination demonstrated he has a full range of motion of his right shoulder, matching his left shoulder, and no discomfort in abduction with internal or external rotation.  
Dr. Swanson noted that this indicates there is no significant residual.
  Dr. Swanson opined that any right shoulder strain, which is an overstretch or over utilization of a musculotendinous unit, was resolved, stable, and without impairment.  He indicated this was typical of the shoulder strain, which ordinarily is expected to resolve within three months’ time.
  

Dr. Swanson opined that the employee had pre-existing laxity in extension of the MCP joint of the right thumb, demonstrated on the December 16, 2004 x-rays.  Dr. Swanson indicated that the thumb went into maximum hyperextension and bumped up against a spur at that maximum degree of extension.  Dr. Swanson opined that this indicates an old long-standing injury to the thumb.  He also noted evidence of an old deformity at the base of the proximal phalanx suggestive of previous injury to the MCP joint of the employee's right thumb.

Based upon evidence in the videotape, Dr. Swanson’s diagnostic impression was symptom magnification with probable secondary gain in evidence suggestive of malingering.  Beyond that, Dr. Swanson found evidence on the employee's imaging studies of right thumb carpometacarpal joint arthritis and osteoarthritis of the MCP joint and IP joint of the employee's right thumb.  

In providing his opinion regarding whether the December 13, 2004 work incident represented a substantial factor causing Dr. Swanson's diagnostic impressions, he stated as follows:

Although the examinee’s events of 12/13/04 were unwitnessed, reviewing the medical records and obtaining the history and physical examination indicate that the examinee, in all probability, had a mild shoulder strain on 12/13/04.  It is now resolved, stable, and without impairment.

The examinee by history suffered a sprain of the MCP joint of the right thumb.  That has now been surgically corrected on 01/20/05 and is still in healing phase.  Therefore, but for the conditions of employment and the events as reported from 12/13/04, the examinee, in all probability, would not have had either the right shoulder strain or the right thumb sprain.  Any reasonable physician reviewing this information would, in all medical probability, find that work was the proximate cause of those two conditions.

However, no reasonable physician would indicate that the carpometacarpal joint arthritis of the right thumb, the arthritis of the MCP joint or the IP joints of the right thumb, the pre-existing laxity in extension of the MCP joint of the thumb, or any of his other diagnoses not a specifically related to the sprain of the shoulder or sprain of the MCP joint of the right thumb were related to his work activities.

Based upon the information before Dr. Swanson, he opined the December 13, 2004 work incident constituted a substantial factor in the employee’s need for the January 20, 2005 ulnar collateral ligament surgery; however, he found the employee’s work was unrelated to any need for a future MCP joint arthroplasty of the employee’s right thumb.  Further he opined that all treatment related to the December 13, 2004 incident was not complete at far as the employee’s thumb was concerned.  Dr. Swanson indicated the employee needed to be weaned out of his brace, placed on a vigorous range of motion and strengthening exercise program, and that the injury to his right thumb would be stable, at the latest, within six months from the date of the surgical procedure, July 20, 2005.  Dr. Swanson opined the employee’s shoulder strain required no further evaluation or treatment; that it was resolved, stable and without impairment.

Dr. Swanson opined the employee would be able to return to his regular work activities except for pinch gripping of over five pounds by April 15, 2005, and that he could return to full work duties, without limitation, by July 15, 2005.

Dr. Swanson noted the employee’s history of chronic low back pain due to spondylosis, with continuing complaint; the employee’s history of psychological and physical addiction to pain medications; in addition to the employee's prior history of drug seeking behavior.

Dr. Swanson provided an addendum to his March 15, 2005 EME Report.  Dr. Swanson had an opportunity to review the March 16, 2005 report of Dennis Johnson of Northern Investigative Associates.  Dr. Swanson learned that the employee, when speaking to a coffee stand employee, claimed he injured his hand and arm when he wrecked a snow machine during a race.  Reviewing the investigator’s written report did not change Dr. Swanson’s opinions or impressions expressed in his March 15, 2005 report; he indicated that it only confirmed them.  

On March 17, 2005, PA-C Koenck saw the employee for the employee's complaints of pain in his thumb and swelling.  Upon examination, PA-C Koenck indicated there was no inflammation.  
PA-C Koenck released the employee to return to work, with limited duties for two months.  The restrictions placed upon the employee’s work were little to no use of his right hand / arm.   The employee was prescribed physical therapy for six weeks.

The employee called PA-C Koenck on March 19, 2005, with complaints of severe thumb pain.  Despite the employee’s request for narcotics, PA-C Koenck refused to provide them and notified the employee that Dr. Weaver would be returning to the clinic on March 21, 2005.  The employee reported to PA-C Koenck that he did not like Dr. Weaver.  PA-C Koenck spoke in favor of 
Dr. Weaver’s skills and the employee told PA-C Koenck that he had lost trust in PA-C Koenck, that he was getting no where with PA-C Koenck and hung up.
 

Dr. Weaver saw the employee on March 25, 2005.  He reported the employee has had excessive pain and lack of functioning since the surgical procedure in February 2005; that the employee has continued to seek more pain relief with limited success; and that the employee was referred to physical therapy but had not made an appearance.  Dr. Weaver indicated the etiology of the employee’s excess pain was unclear.  Despite the employee’s pain complaints, Dr. Weaver told him that further narcotics were not the solution.  Dr. Weaver referred the employee to an orthopedist for further evaluation and once again to physical therapy.

On March 31, 2005, upon receipt of additional records, including the March 16, 2005 statement from Misty Levitt, Dr. Swanson provided a second addendum to his March 15, 2005 EME report.  Dr. Swanson stated:

I have reviewed the previous independent medical examination of 03/15/05 and the previous 03/17/05 addendum.  The new information received today does not alter the opinions or impressions expressed at that time.  What the new information does, is further confirm the information that the examinee stated that his injury to his right upper extremity was caused by a snow machine accident.  This adds some details that he was racing and ended up in first place on an 800 and crashed in on one ski.  If this history is accurate, then the examinee did not suffer a work-related injury on 12/13/04.

On April 1, 2005, the employee completed “Worker Compensation Information.”  He described how the accident happened as follows, “Brushed off snowblower – it backfired.  Handle caught thumb (wearing gloves) – and pulled thumb – dislocation.  Ligament repair 1/20/04 at ANMC.  Casted  x 2 months.  Splint since.  Sleeps in splint.”

On April 4, 2005, Dr. Swanson provided information regarding his evaluation of the employee’s right shoulder strain for a ratable permanent partial impairment using the AMA Guides for Evaluation of Permanent Impairment of Function, 5th Edition (“AMA Guides”).  He indicated, “full observed range of motion, 5/5 shoulder strength, no objective sensory loss, normal reflexes, no atrophy.  Per figure 16-1b, page 437, he has no upper extremity imp for the shoulder.  Using table 16-3 on page 439 that equals no impairment of the whole pers.”  Dr. Swanson additionally indicated that narcotic medications were not necessary for the employee’s recovery and were not an acceptable medical option in the employee’s case.

The employee attended physical therapy 11 times between April 1, 2005 and May 13, 2005.  On two of the 11 physical therapy sessions, based upon the employee’s complaints of illness, the employee was unable to participate in therapy.

Dr. Clawson followed up with the employee on June 23, 2005.  The employee complained that the surgery did not improve his symptoms.  Upon examination the employee had no tenderness at the area of the previous incision; his ulnar collateral ligament was stable.  Dr. Clawson's impression was that the employee had severe degenerative joint disease at the CMC joint on his right thumb.  She indicated the only option was surgical and would require an understanding with the pain management clinic.  The employee chose not to proceed with surgery.

At the employer's request, Dr. Swanson conducted an additional EME on August 9, 2005.  The employee reported to Dr. Swanson that he been attempting to perform rehabilitation at home; that he had a visited therapist in King Salmon, which was of value to the employee; however he reported that overall the pain was unchanged.  The employee reported that he is unable to lift anything with his right hand and drops things easily.  Further, he reported a great deal of pain at the MCP joint level and down to the first web space.  The employee reported he writes by putting his pen between his index and long fingers and at other times he uses a thick pen with a normal grip.  He reported he uses a large cup but it is sometimes difficult to hold.  He reported he can lift a suitcase or boxes because he can use the other four fingers to do that type of lifting.  He reported he uses his left hand to get things out of the refrigerator.  He reported that over time he has gradually developed some discomfort in the left thumb due to its increased use.
  During the evaluation, Dr. Swanson observed the following:

During the history and examination there would be times when he would just grunt.  Sometimes he would bend over and appear to have severe pain in the thumb.  Other times he would be fine.  He would tremble sometimes when showing ranges of motion of the thumb and other times he would move the thumb freely.  When he had to change his recording tape twice during the examination he used his involved right hand to change the tape.  He had good pinch grip.  Other times he would hold the recorder while changing the tape with a good pinch maneuver.  At one time during the examination he performed marked hyperextension of his lumbar spine and cervical spine in a stretching maneuver.

For purposes of the EME, Dr. Swanson reviewed those medical records unavailable at the time of the initial evaluation.  Additionally, Dr. Swanson was provided pictures of a Toro 924 power snow blower machine and information regarding its starting mechanism.  Dr. Swanson noted that the mechanism for pulling the starter of the snow blower requires that the four fingers have to be wrapped around the handle and the handle is pulled; the thumb is not utilized in this maneuver.  Further, Dr. Swanson indicated that if it was a backfire, the thumb would not be injured.

Dr. Swanson took range of motion measurements.  He noted that the digits on the employee’s right had at times flexed to within 2 cm of the distal palmar crease, but when actually measured, the employee was 7 cm short of reaching the distal palmar crease.  Dr. Swanson indicated that the employee demonstrated no evidence of discomfort from a when he utilized his right hand to hold the tape machine or pick up the tape and replace it into the machine as he changed the audiotape; however, at other times the employee demonstrated tremor of his thumb during activities while at other times he would not.

At the time of this evaluation, Dr. Swanson's impressions were as follows:

1. Pre-existing severe carpometacarpal joint osteoarthritis of the right thumb.

2. Pre-existing mild osteoarthritis of the metacarpophalangeal joint and IP joint of the right thumb.

3. Right shoulder strain of 12/13/04, resolved.

4. Pre-existing osteoarthritis of the acromioclavicular joint of the right shoulder.

5. Pre-existing hyper extension of the MCP joint of the right thumb.

6. History of chronic low back pain due to spondylosis.

7. Probable psychological and physical addiction to pain medications.

8. Evidence of symptom magnification with probable secondary gain.

9. Videotape in exam evidence suggesting malingering.

10. Pre-existing history of drug seeking behavior.

11. History of ulnar collateral ligament sprain of the right thumb, now stable after surgical repair on 01/20/05.

Dr. Swanson indicated the physical examination of the employee was compromised by evidence of symptom magnification with probable secondary gain, which consisted of inconsistent range of motion of the cervical spine in flexion and extension by more than five degrees or 10 percent.
  Further evidence of symptom magnification was revealed because complaints about tenderness on palpation over the right shoulder varied from one part of the exam to another; the first time there was tenderness just over the posterior subacromial area of a minimal degree; when the employee asked to be repalpated, he had discomfort diffusely over the anterior, lateral and posterior subacromial areas, the biceps tendon, the clavicle and the acromioclavicular joint.  Further, the difference in the employee's cervical rotation range of motion of 10 degrees in each direction versus that observed casually while performing Adson’s evaluation test was 70 degrees.  The employee's rotation when measured was only 10 degrees; however when observed casually it was 80 degrees.
  Despite the employee's reports that there was hypesthesia in the radial side of the thumb, his two point discrimination was normal at less than five millimeters.  Further, despite the employee's reports that he did not use his hand at all because of severe pain, he was able to hold his tape recorder with the thumb index pinch grip with the right hand at one time and use the thumb index pinch on the audiotape what he changed his cassette on two different occasions during the examination, indicating his function is far greater than what he admitted to.  Dr. Swanson also noted that despite the employee's complaints that his levels of pain were nine to ten, the employee did not demonstrate evidence of that level of pain on the history and physical examinations, except he would occasionally bend over, grab his thumb, hold it for a few seconds and then be back to his previous level of comfort.  Dr. Swanson opined that, taking this all into consideration, there is evidence of symptom magnification with probable secondary gain.

Dr. Swanson reviewed an April 26, 2005 letter from James Schlegel, Acting Director for the Southwest Alaska Vocational Education Center, which described the mechanism used to start the snow blower owned by the employer.
  In addition, Dr. Swanson was provided photographs of the snow blower that showed the mechanism to start the machine.  Having reviewed the mechanism to start the snow blower, Dr. Swanson indicated the open handle cord device is pulled by the four fingers and the thumb is not within the handle; but if there was a kickback from the engine caused by a backfire, this would have pulled on the index, long, ring and small fingers forcing only those fingers into hyperextension, but would have had no effect on the MCP joint of the thumb.
  
Having had an opportunity to review the photographs of the employer’s snow blower, Dr. Swanson indicated it was impossible for him to understand what mechanism of injury could possibly have occurred starting the snow blower that would have damaged the MCP joint of the employee's right thumb.  However, in contrasting the reported accident experienced by the employee when racing a snow machine, and crashing on one ski, Dr. Swanson indicated this was a classic mechanism of injury to produce an ulnar collateral ligament sprain of the right thumb.  According to Dr. Swanson, this occurs when the thumb is forced over the handle bar of the snow machine.

Dr. Swanson opined the employee was medically stable.  At more than six months following his operative procedure of January 20, 2005, the employee was not expected to have any measurable improvements, nor had there been any measurable improvement for more than 45 days.  Dr. Swanson indicated that the employee’s shoulder strain of December 13, 2004, was medically stable and without impairment by March 15, 2005.
  

Based upon the MCP strain of the employee's right thumb and the surgical procedure of January 20, 2005, Dr. Swanson found the employee had a one percent impairment of the whole person according to the AMA Guides.  Dr. Swanson opined that none of the employee's other limitations in his upper extremity were due to the injury to his MCP joint.  Dr. Swanson indicated it was the long-standing pre-existing carpometacarpal joint arthritis of the employee's right thumb that produced limitations of range of motion of the employee’s thumb CMC joint and long-standing pre-existing mild osteoarthritis that produced limitations of motion of the employee’s IP joint of the thumb.  
Dr. Swanson opined that the employee's limitations in the range of motion of his wrist are due to the underlying pre-existing arthritis of the carpometacarpal joint area of the thumb, combined with the employee’s symptom magnification.  Dr. Swanson indicated that beyond the one percent impairment of the whole person due to the sprain of the metacarpophalangeal joint and subsequent surgery on the ulnar collateral ligament, there is no indication the employee has any other impairment.  Dr. Swanson reemphasized that it was improbable that the employee suffered a sprain of the MCP joint based upon his on the job activities of December 13, 2004.

Dr. Swanson opined that with regard to the MCP joint sprain and surgical procedure performed by Dr. Clawson, the employee has been capable of returning to full work activities since July 20, 2005, as evidenced by Dr. Clawson's note that the employee's MCP joint was stable and well healed on June 23, 2005.
  Dr. Swanson indicated that the employee has a variety of other abnormalities in his thumb which are long-standing, pre-existing and may prevent the employee from doing heavy gripping activities with his thumb because of the severe osteoarthritis of the carpometacarpal joint.

II. Medical History Prior to the December 13, 2004 Injury

The employee’s medical history prior to the December 13, 2004 injury is fully covered in the Board’s Decision and Order in Francisco J. R. Floresta v. Bristol Bay Housing Authority, AWCB Decision No. 06-0037 (February 16, 2006).  This decision was rendered in AWCB Case No. 200400255.  The Board incorporates by reference the facts as detailed in AWCB Decision No. 06-0037.  In that case, the Board ultimately found the employee knowingly made reports to his physicians, the employer’s physicians and the employer that were misleading and intended to perpetuate his time loss and medical benefits beyond the date any injury he may have sustained at work on February 10, 2004, resolved.  The Board found the benefits continued beyond the date the employee no longer needed medical treatment and was able to return to full duty work without restrictions, based upon his continued assertion of his symptoms and disability.  The Board concluded the benefits the employee received following March 10, 2004, were barred by 
AS 23.30.250(b). 
III. Witness Testimony
A. Susan Kosinski
Susan Kosinski is a Claims Examiner for Alaska National Insurance Company.  Three months after the employee’s February 10, 2004 injury, AWCB Case No. 200400255, was reported, Ms. Kosinski was assigned to handle the employee’s case and has been the adjuster ever since.  

Due to concerns regarding the employee’s February 10, 2004 injury, she retained medical case manager, Ms. Double, to monitor the employee’s care.  Ms. Double attended appointments with the employee.  Ms. Kosinski testified the reports she received from Ms. Double indicated the employee was inconsistent before and after the medical appointments.  Ms. Double reported to Ms. Kosinski that she observed the employee acting differently outside the physician’s office before and after appointments.  Ms. Kosinski testified that Ms. Double’s reports supported the fact that the medical records indicated there were no objective medical findings to correlate with the employee’s voiced complaints regarding his February 10, 2004 injury.  As a result, 
Ms. Kosinski enlisted the service of Northern Investigative Associates to conduct a sub rosa investigation.

Ms. Kosinski testified that Northern Investigative Associates took videotapes of the employee’s activities, and she provided the videotapes to the EME physicians who, she testified, reported inconsistencies in the employee’s conduct on the videotapes when compared with his conduct during evaluation.  Ms. Kosinski testified that it was based upon these inconsistencies that the employee’s claims for his February 10, 2004 injury were controverted on August 6, 2004.
  

Ms. Kosinski testified that she went to King Salmon, Alaska on December 1, 2004, accompanied by the employer’s attorney, Theresa Hennemann.  The purpose of the trip was to meet with the employee to discuss the videotapes taken during investigation of the employee’s February 10, 2004 injury.  Copies of the videotapes were provided to the employee.  Ms. Kosinski testified that the employee appeared ambivalent and unconcerned regarding the content of the videotapes.  She testified that despite the employee’s apparent indifference to the content of the films, he was quite angry and upset regarding the employer’s controversion of his benefits.  She testified that less than two weeks after her visit to King Salmon, the employee filed his second injury report claiming a work-related injury.

Ms. Kosinski testified that she utilized Northern Investigative Associates to conduct sub rosa investigation during the employee's March 14 and 15, 2005 trip to Anchorage for an EME.  
Ms. Kosinski testified that videotapes taken during this time revealed inconsistencies in the employee's behavior and activities before and after the EME and even during the EME.

Ms. Kosinski testified that the employer has paid the employee $16,318.98 in indemnity payments under the employee’s December 2004 claim.  This amount includes temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits, and permanent partial impairment (“PPI”) benefits.
  Ms. Kosinski testified that the employer has paid medical benefits on the claim in the sum of $12,336.80
 and other expenses in the sum of $19,032.14.
  Ms. Kosinski testified that the other expenses are attorney fees and legal costs, which include auditing fees, investigative fees, and EME fees.  She testified that all amounts are verified in the insurer’s payment by transaction printouts and total $47,687.92 for the employee’s December 2004 claim.

Ms. Kosinski testified that if the employee had been truthful with Alaska National Insurance Company regarding his December 2004 claim, the employer would not have incurred any expenses associated with the claim.  Ms. Kosinski testified that any benefits paid or expenses incurred were based upon the employee’s misrepresentations and untruthfulness regarding how he injured himself.  Because the employer incurred these expenses, Ms. Kosinski testified they have a moral and ethical obligation to pursue reimbursement from the employee to prevent the rising costs of workers’ compensation insurance.

Ms. Kosinski testified on cross examination when the employee asked if she had proof his accidents did not occur at work that, although the accidents were not observed by witnesses, the employer accepted the employee’s claims until it had proof otherwise.

B. Dennis Johnson
Dennis Johnson is the Chief Executive Officer of Northern Investigative Associates.  Mr. Johnson evaluates each case and assigns investigators to work the case.  Mr. Johnson testified that upon receiving the assignment to conduct sub rosa activity checks on the employee, he worked on the case himself and assigned additional investigators to assist him.

Mr. Johnson testified that he conducted sub rosa investigation of the employee on five of the employee’s trips to Anchorage:  June 2, 3 and 4, 2004; July 23 and 24, 2004; July 8, 9 and 10, 2005; March 14, 15 and 16, 2005; and August 8 and 9, 2005.  Mr. Johnson testified that all of his reports contain a true and accurate summary of all events observed, in addition to field notes.
  Additionally, he noted that his report dated June 10, 2004, contains a background check of the employee. 

Mr. Johnson testified his observations of the employee in March of 2005, revealed no problems with the employee's use of his right arm or hand.  He testified he observed the employee using his right hand to rummage through his carry on suitcase, take money out of his wallet, open sugar packets and stir his coffee, while at the same time wearing a sling on his right arm and Velcro type hand brace on his right hand.  Mr. Johnson testified that all actions he observed were outside the normal restrictions the sling and hand brace provided.  Mr. Johnson testified that he observed the employee take his right arm out of the sling to make several phone calls from the business phone at LensCrafters; that the employee placed the handset on his right shoulder and with his right hand dial numbers with his right index finger.

Mr. Johnson testified that he stood behind the employee at Caffe Elegante, a coffee stand in the Sears Mall.  He testified he overheard the employee tell the barrista from whom the employee ordered coffee that he injured his arm and hand in a snow machine race when his ski broke and he wrecked the snow machine.  Mr. Johnson testified he overheard the employee report to a LensCrafters employee the same thing he had reported to the barrista regarding how he injured his arm and hand.

Mr. Johnson testified regarding his direct contact with the employee.  He testified that the employee sat next to him and initiated a conversation.  Mr. Johnson testified that on the top of the employee's bag he had prescription medications.  Mr. Johnson testified that the employee asked Mr. Johnson if he needed anything; the employee informed Mr. Johnson that he had oxycontin, valium and muscle relaxants and offered to sell some to Mr. Johnson.  Mr. Johnson testified that there is no doubt in his mind that the employee was offering to sell him drugs.

Mr. Johnson testified that he observed the employee remove a large amount of money from an envelope.  He then observed the employee write his name and phone number, using his right hand to write with no difficulties while holding the pen normally.  Mr. Johnson testified the employee told Mr. Johnson if he was ever in King Salmon, the employee would take care of him.

Mr. Johnson testified that he conducted sub rosa investigation on August 8, 2005.  Mr. Johnson testified that the employee appeared to be unaware of sub rosa on prior occasions; however, on August 8, 2005, the employee was driving erratically and appeared to be concerned he was being observed.  Mr. Johnson testified that his observations of the employee revealed the employee had no problems using his right thumb or hand and that the employee did not appear to be experiencing pain.

C. Francisco Floresta

Mr. Floresta was unable to express himself to make an opening statement or closing argument.  However, he was able to testify at the hearing. 

Mr. Floresta testified that he has applied for and been denied social security benefits.
  He testified that on July 15, 2005, the Social Security Administration found that his condition was not severe enough to prevent him from working and that the medical evidence revealed he retained the ability to do the work he had done in the past as a janitor.  Mr. Floresta testified that he applied for social security disability benefits based upon both his right hand and head injuries.  

Mr. Floresta testified that he does not recall that the social security administration found the following:  1) That he can perform medium level work; 2) That he manipulated the medical system through AA Pain Center to maintain an addiction to narcotics; 3) That he was evasive in his responses and his veracity was dubious at best.  Mr. Floresta testified that he has not challenged any of the social security administration’s findings.  He testified that he did not appeal the social security administration determination that he is ineligible for social security disability benefits.  He testified that it is his intention to reapply for social security benefits because he does not think he will be able to go back to work due to the his head and right hand injuries.  He testified he was a commercial fisherman and worked with his hands and he can no longer do so.

Mr. Floresta testified he is not familiar with the workers’ compensation process.  He testified he did not know how many past workers’ compensation claims he has filed.

The employee testified that the December 2004 injury occurred when he was starting a snow blower with a pull cord.  He testified that the snow blower’s engine was warm and, therefore, he was not using the throttle at all.  He testified he was standing alongside the snow blower when he pulled the cord.  He testified the snow blower backfired and pulled his thumb down.  The employee testified that even if the snow blower was built to be started with the left-hand, he did not think it was impossible to start the snow blower with his right hand.  The employee testified mechanism of injury was a fluke.

The employee testified he recalls a conversation with the employer’s attorney, Theresa Hennemann, on September 21, 2005.  He testified he did not recall telling her he could not pick up a cup with his right hand.  He testified he did not recall telling her he could not bend over or he would pass out or that he must kneel down to pick up his keys because he cannot bend over. 

B. Misty Levitt

Misty Levitt provided an unsworn statement to Dennis Johnson on March 16, 2005.  Misty stated that she was employee of Caffe Elegante in the Sears Mall and had worked there for approximately three years.  She stated that on March 15, 2005, at approximately 11:00 am, a Native American man who was approximately 5 feet 7 inches tall and weighed about 170 to 175 pounds, with his arm in a sling, placed in order for coffee.  Ms. Levitt stated that she recalled Mr. Johnson was standing directly behind the gentlemen ordering coffee.  Ms. Levitt stated that she asked the man what he did to his arm and he told her he hurt it in a snow machine accident; he was racing, he got first-place but he was on an 800 and he crashed it on one ski.

Ms. Levitt was shown a photograph of the employee.  She identified the person in the photograph as the gentlemen who ordered coffee from her on March 15, 2005, with his right arm in a sling.  
Ms. Levitt stated that the employee moved his right arm and carried coffee with it.

IV. The Board’s Observations at Hearing
The employee appeared at the hearing telephonically.  At the beginning of hearing, the employee expressed his inability to think and talk at the same time.  At this time, the employee’s articulation was not crisp or clear.  Additionally, the employee did not enunciate his words and, on occasion, slurred his speech.  Based upon the employee’s report of difficulty expressing himself verbally, the Board held the record open to accept the employee’s opening remarks and closing arguments in writing.  

The Board notes, however, that the employee had no difficulty developing cross-examination questions for Ms. Kosinski or Mr. Johnson.  Further, the Board observed the employee’s ability to communicate clearly when examining Ms. Kosinski and Mr. Johnson, with no difficulty forming understandable sentences and no difficulty clearly articulating and enunciating his words.

V. Parties’ Arguments
A. Employee’s Argument
The employee argues that his December 13, 2004 injury occurred while he was at work, during working hours, and that his injury was reported in a timely manner.  The employee asserts that he met all of the insurance company’s requests.

The employee argues that the employer’s suggestion that he fabricated his thumb injury in retaliation for the employer's controversion of his February 10, 2004 injury is conniving and deceitful.  He asserts that he injured himself starting the employer’s snow blower.  He argued that the first time he heard that his painful thumb condition was caused by arthritis was when the employer suggested it.  The employee asserts that there has never been a doctor who has discussed arthritis with him or given him instructions on what arthritis is or what can be done about it.  The employee argues that the arthritis is a result of the thumb injury, which occurred at work.  He asserts that Dr. Clawson, the orthopedic surgeon, has not discussed arthritis with him.

The employee asserts that if he were a drug seeking, desperate person, he would not attempt to sell his prescription medications.  Therefore, he asserts that the private investigator is a liar.

B. Employer’s Argument

The employer asserts that the employee has obtained time-loss and medical benefits based upon false and misleading statements.  The employer has petitioned the Board under AS 23.30.250 for a finding that the employee knowingly made false or misleading statements to obtain benefits and for an order granting reimbursement of a portion of the benefits paid to the employee.  

The employer argues there is abundant evidence to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the employee knowingly made false and misleading representations in order to obtain workers’ compensation benefits.  The employer argues the employee's entire claim is based on a false premise.  From the beginning, the employer asserts, the employee has attributed his shoulder and thumb injury to a work incident; specifically, attempting to pull start a snow blower at work on December 13, 2004.  The employer argues there is no evidence of this event ever taking place; no one witnessed the incident, except the employee himself, who by many accounts is not a credible historian.  The employer argues that, by the employee's own admissions made to disinterested persons, the employee injured his thumb outside of work, while engaging in a snow machine race.  The employer asserts that Dr. Swanson has determined that the snow machine accident and not the alleged snow blower incident, is the cause of the employee's thumb condition.

Aside from the employee's misrepresentations regarding how the injury occurred, the employer argues the employee has obtained workers’ compensation benefits by misrepresenting the extent of his physical condition, resulting in prolonged medical care, prescription of medications, and time loss benefits.

The employer argues that a preponderance of the evidence establishes that the employee injured his thumb in a non work-related incident when he crashed a snow machine during a race; that the employee's physical abilities far exceed the abilities and complaints the employee has represented to the employer and to medical providers; and that the employee knowingly misrepresented this information to medical providers and to the employer to obtain workers’ compensation benefits to which he would not otherwise be entitled.

The employer argues that the evidence shall compel the Board to find the employee knowingly made false misrepresentations, that benefits he received were wrongfully obtained and that all costs of benefits the employee obtained based upon his falsely reported December 13, 2004 injury, and the employer’s litigations costs and expenses should be reimbursed.  The employer argues that the employee’s conduct was egregious and is the type of conduct AS 23.30.250 is precisely fashioned to curb. 


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
AS 23.30.250 provides, in part:

(a)  A person who (1) knowingly makes a false statement, representation, or submission related to a benefit under this chapter . . . is guilty of theft by deception as defined in AS 11.46.189, and may be punished as provided by AS 11.46.120 – 11.46.150.

(b)  If the board, after a hearing, finds that a person has obtained compensation, medical treatment, or another benefit provided under this chapter by knowingly making a false or misleading statement or representation for the purpose of obtaining that benefit, the board shall order that person to make full reimbursement of the cost of all benefits obtained.  Upon entry of an order authorized under this subsection, the board shall also order that person to pay all reasonable costs and attorney fees incurred by the employer and the employer's carrier in obtaining an order under this section and in defending any claim made for benefits under this chapter.  If a person fails to comply with an order of the board requiring reimbursement of compensation and payment of costs and attorney fees, the employer may declare the person in default and proceed to collect any sum due as provided under AS 23.30.170(b) 
and (c).

Alaska Supreme Court in Unocal v. DeNuptiis,
 found subsection (b) is restorative in nature, intended only to return both parties to the point they would have been had the fraud not occurred.
  Accordingly, the court held the “preponderance of the evidence” standard of proof from the Alaska Administrative Procedure Act
 applies to AS 23.30.250(b).
  Accordingly, the Board here applies the “preponderance of the evidence” standard to the employer’s petition for reimbursement under AS 23.30.250(b).
  We also interpret that subsection to authorize forfeiture and reimbursement of only those benefits resulting from intentional false or misleading statements or representations and to reimbursement of the employer’s expenses occasioned by the fraud.
 

II. FALSE OR MISLEADING STATEMENT TO OBTAIN BENEFITS
The Board viewed all five sub rosa videotapes taken on June 2, 2004, July 10, 2004, July 23 and 24, 2004, March 14, 15 and 16, 2005 and August 2005.  The Board finds the employee’s behavior on the videotapes taken on March 14, 15 and 16, 2005 and August 8, 2005, is inconsistent with his reports to the physicians and his reports to the insurance adjuster handling his claim for the December 13, 2004 thumb injury.  

Dennis Johnson, Chief Executive Officer of Northern Investigative Associates conducted the investigation into this matter.  He testified at hearing regarding the time, location, and circumstances of the creation of the videotapes.  The Board finds Mr. Johnson provided a sound evidentiary foundation for the videotapes filed with the Board.  Accordingly, we find the videotapes have been authenticated.
  

The employer requests us to find fraudulent or misleading acts by the employee to obtain benefits for an injury the employee reported occurred at work on December 13, 2004, to his shoulder and thumb.

The Board finds the employee’s initial report of injury included only an injury to his right shoulder.  The Board finds it was not until December 16, 2004, that the employee reported to a health care provider that he felt pain in his thumb.  As a consequence of the employee’s reports, the Board finds the employee was provided a medical release from work and the employer initiated payment of TTD benefits and medical benefits.  

The Board finds that despite the employee’s reports, made to Dr Swanson and the employer, that he does not use his right hand due to severe pain, that he was able to use his right hand to hold his tape recorder and to change tapes in the recorder.  Further, the Board finds the employee was able to use his right hand to hold a coffee cup, to stir sugar into his coffee, to write without any form of assistive technology, to grip an envelope to open it and rip a portion of it off using his right hand, thumb and index finger, to carry luggage, to dial a telephone and to smoke cigarettes, among other various things.  The Board finds that the employee’s reports of his inability to use his right hand and thumb are totally inconsistent with his true functioning as evidenced on the videotapes taken on March 14, 15 and 16, 2005 and August 9, 2005, and as observed by Dr. Swanson during his evaluation of the employee.  

The Board finds that when Dr. Swanson was provided information regarding the starting mechanism of the employer’s snow blower, he was able to determine that the employee’s thumb injury was not caused by pulling the cord on the snow blower, but rather during a snow machine race in which the employee wrecked, as the employee had reported to Ms. Levitt.  The Board finds Dr. Swanson’s opinion persuasive.  Dr. Swanson explained that the mechanism for pulling the starter for the snow blower requires that four fingers be wrapped around the handle and the handle is pulled; however, the thumb is not utilized in this maneuver and if the snow blower were to backfire, the thumb would not be injured and would have no effect on the thumb joints.  The Board further finds Dr. Swanson’s judgment that the accident reported by the employee when racing a snowmobile and crashing on one ski, is a classic mechanism of injury to produce an ulnar collateral ligament sprain of the right thumb to be credible.  The Board finds Dr. Swanson is an experienced orthopedic surgeon, knowledgeable regarding those mechanisms of injury that could and could not cause the type of injury the employee experienced in the MCP joint of his right thumb.

We find the employee’s reports to the employer and medical providers were contradictory to his actions on the videotapes and his reports to disinterested third parties.
  Further, the Board places great weight upon the fact that it was impossible for Dr. Swanson to understand how the injury could have occurred starting a snow blower with a pull cord; but that Dr. Swanson finds the snow machine accident as described by the employee to Ms. Levitt is a classic mechanism of injury to produce an ulnar collateral ligament sprain of the right thumb. 

The Board finds the employee’s reports and actions during examinations with Dr. Swanson are suspect and inconsistent with his actions and behavior observed on the videotapes.  The Board finds persuasive Dr. Swanson’s opinions regarding the employee’s activities observed during the examination and on the videotapes taken on March 14, 15 and 16, 2005.  

During the employee’s examinations, Dr. Swanson reported the employee would at times grunt, bend over and appear to have severe pain in the thumb.  Other times he would tremble when showing ranges of motion of his thumb.  Dr. Swanson also reported that at other times the employee would move his thumb freely.  The Board finds the videotapes depict that the employee’s hand and right thumb function without impairment or pain.  The Board finds the employee’s activities were not inhibited due to any condition in his right hand or thumb.  The Board finds the employee engaged in a wide variety of activities without evidence of any pain behavior, dysfunction or any limitations with regard to the employee’s right hand or thumb.  The Board finds that when the employee is not aware he is being observed he does not grunt, does not bend over in pain, does not tremble with use of his thumb and exhibits no signs of pain whatsoever.

By the preponderance of the evidence available to the Board, we find the employee knowingly made reports to his physicians, the employer’s physicians and the employer that were misleading and intended to perpetuate time loss, PPI and medical benefits for an injury he did not sustain at work.  We conclude that any benefits the employee received for the injury to his thumb are barred by AS 23.30.250(b).  Therefore, the employer’s Petition for Reimbursement shall be granted.  
The Board finds the testimony of Susan Kosinski, the workers’ compensation insurance adjuster, verifies the information contained in the insurer’s itemized records of payment in the employee’s December 13, 2004 case.  The Board finds the employer has paid $16,318.98 in time loss and PPI benefits for the employee’s December 13, 2004 report of injury, and $12,336.80 in medical benefits.  

Because we find the employee’s deception resulted in benefits being paid, AS 23.30.250(b) operates to forfeit his time-loss and medical benefits.  Accordingly, under AS 23.30.250(b), we will order reimbursement of the $16,318.98 in time loss and PPI benefits and $12,336.80 in medical benefits received by the employee under his December 13, 2004 report of injury.  

The employer testified at hearing regarding expenditures made for attorney fees and costs related to the employee’s December 13, 2004 report of injury.  AS 23.30.250(b) provides for the award of reasonable costs and attorney fees incurred by pursuing the reimbursement of benefits.  The Board has reviewed the itemized attorney hours and costs.  We find them reasonable and will order the employee to pay the employer $7,823.00 in attorney fees and $11,209.14 in costs.


ORDER
1. Under AS 23.30.250(b), we order the employee to reimburse the employer $16,318.98 in time loss and PPI benefits.

2. Under AS 23.30.250(b), we order the employee to reimburse the employer $12,336.80 in medical benefits.

3. Under AS 23.30.250(b), we order the employee to reimburse the employer $7,823.00 in reasonable attorney fees and $11,209.14 in legal costs.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on February  23, 2006.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board.  If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier.  AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 
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Case No. 200400255; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on February 23, 2006.
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